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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

IN RE: VOLKSWAGEN ‘CLEAN DIESEL’
MARKETING, SALES PRACTICES, AND MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)
PRODUCTS LIABILITY LITIGATION

This Document Relates to:
ALL CONSUMER ACTIONS AMENDED CONSOLIDATED
CONSUMER CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

LENA BROOK, et al., on behalf of themselves
and all others similarly on behalf of all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

VOLKSWAGEN GROUP OF AMERICA,
INC., VOLKSWAGEN AG, AUDI AG, AUDI
OF AMERICA, LLC, DR. ING. H.C. F.
PORSCHE AG, PORSCHE CARS NORTH
AMERICA, INC., MARTIN WINTERKORN,
MATTHIAS MULLER, MICHAEL HORN,
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VOLKMAR DENNER,

Defendants.

AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS
1315181.2 COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 2 of 742

Page
INTRODUCTION ...ttt et te e s e e e e et e e et e e s ae e e beeabeeeteeaneeenees 1
JURISDICTION AND VENUE .....oooiiiiiiiie ettt saa e 5
INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT ..ottt 6
PARTIES ..ottt et e e ab e et e e s aa e e b e e e s b e e beeereeenreeaneeetee e 6
A. Individual and Representative PlaintiffS..........ccccooiiiiiiiiiie e 6
1. Alabama PlaintiffS ..o 15
2. Alaska PlaINtiffS.......c.ccoviiiiiic e 16
3. ANZoNa PlaINtTTS ...coeiiiic e 17
4. Arkansas PlaintiffS..........cccoiiiiiiii e 19
5. California PlaintiffS.........cccoiiiiiic i 20
6.  Colorado PlaintiffS..........ccoiiiiiiicc e 34
7. Connecticut PlaiNtiffS ..........cooiiiiii e 36
8.  Delaware PIaiNtiffs .........ccoeiiiiiic i 38
9.  District of Columbia PlaintiffS..........ccccoiiiiiiiiiiic e 39
10.  FIorida PlAINtITTS ......ooiiiiiec e 40
11, Georgia PlaiNtiffS.........coiiiiiieiiie e 41
12, Hawaii PlAINtTTS ......ooiiiiece e 43
13, 1daho PlaINtIFTS......ccviiiecec e 45
14, HHNOIS PIAINTITES ..o 46
15, Indiana PlaintiffS.......ccoiiiiiie e 48
16, 1OWA PlAINtITTS .....viiiii e 49
17, Kansas PlaiNtiffS ........ccooiiiiieiccc e 53
18.  Kentucky PIaINtITFS ......ccooiiiie i 55
19.  Louisiana PlaintiffS ... 56
20.  Maine PlaintiffS.........cooiiiii i 58
21, Maryland PlaintiffS ........cooooiiiiie e 61
22. Massachusetts PlaintiffS...........ccccooiiiiiii e 63
23, Michigan PIaINtITFS ..........oooiiiiii e 69
24.  Minnesota PlaintiffS ... 71
25.  MISSISSIPPI PIAINTITTS.....c.eiiie e 75
26.  MisSSoUri PlaintiffS..........ccceeiiiiic e 76
27. Montana PlaintiffS...........cccoiiiiiii e 78
28.  Nebraska PlaintiffS..........ccceiiiiiiiiiiic e 80
29.  Nevada PlaintiffS.........cooviiiiiicic s 82
1315181.2 -i- CO%%?\;_;EQFNETD I\ilzgll_\l gg;\gEcF;g IZJpéscS)

TABLE OF CONTENTS




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 3 of 742

30.  New Hampshire PlaintiffS..........ccooooiiiiiiiiiee e 83
31, New Jersey Plaintiffs ..o 85
32. New MeXico PlaintiffS ..o 88
33, New YOrk PlaintiffS ........cccoiiiiiieii e 90
34. North Carolina PlaintiffS..........ccoviiiiiiieiic e 94
35.  North Dakota PlaintiffS...........cccoveiiiiiiiicce e 96
36.  OhI0 PlaINtITFS .. .c.viiiiiiec e 97
37.  OKlahoma PlaintiffS ........cccoiiiiiiiii e 99
38.  Oregon PIAINUITTS.......ccviie s 99
39.  Pennsylvania Plaintiffs ... 102
40. Rhode Island PlaintiffS..........cccoiiiiiiiiiec e 104
41. South Carolina PlaintiffS...........ccoeiiiiiiiii e 105
42. South Dakota PlaintiffS..........ccoiieiiiiiicie e 107
43. Tennessee PlaintiffS ... 107
44,  Texas PlaiNtiffS .......coooiiii e 109
45, Utah PlaINtfFS ..o 112
46.  Vermont PlaintiffS...........ccoooiiiiiiii s 114
A7, Virginia PIAINTGITES ..o 116
48.  Washington PIaintiffs ..., 120
49.  West Virginia PIaINtiffS ..., 123
50.  WIisconsin PlaiNtiffS.........cccoiiiiiiiicicce e 124
51, Wyoming PlaiNtiffS........c.ooioiiiiie s 125
B, DEfeNdants ........cccooiiiiiiiie e 127
1. Volkswagen Defendants .........ccoeiiriinieiienieie e e 127
. VOIKSWAGEN AG ... e 127

b.  Volkswagen Group of America, INC.......ccccooeriviininiinnine e 127

C. AUIAG .o 128

d.  Audi of America, LLC ..o 128

e. Dr.Ing. h.c. F. POrsChe AG ..o, 128

f. Porsche Cars North America, INC........ccccovvviieiie e, 129

g Martin WINterkor.........cccooeiieiiie s 129

h.  MatthiaS MUIEr .........cooiiii e 130

I. MIChaEl HOIMN ... 130

J. RUPEIt StAdIEr ......oeeeieeee 131

2. B0SCh Defendants ..........ccccveiiiiiieiiii i 131
b.  Robert Bosch GMDH ..o 132

C. RODErt BoSCh, LLC.......cooiiiiecec e 132
1315181.2 - i - AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 4 of 742

. VOIKMAr DENNET ..ot e 133
COMMON FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS ..ottt 134
A. Volkswagen’s Plot to Dominate the Automotive Market............cccccovveieiiennene 134
B. Defendants’ Illegal “Defeat Device” SCheme...........cccooceiiiiiiiiiii i 139
C. Bosch Played a Critical Role in the Defeat Device Scheme.........c..ccccooveivenen. 145
1.  Volkswagen and Bosch Conspire to Develop the Illegal Defeat
DBVICE ..ttt e re s 146
2. Volkswagen and Bosch Conspire to Conceal the Illegal
“AKUSTIKTUNKEION ... 154
3. Volkswagen and Bosch Conspire in the U.S. and Germany to Elude
U.S. REGUIALOIS ...t 156
4.  Bosch Keeps Volkswagen’s Secret Safe and Pushes “Clean” Diesel
INTNE ULS. e nre s 160
5.  Defendant Denner Also Played a Critical Role in the Scheme.................. 163
D. Porsche Knowingly Adopts the Defeat Device in Its 3.0-liter Class
VWBNICIES. ...t et 165
E. Volkswagen’s “Clean” Diesel Advertising Campaign .........cccocererieneeneninnnnnns 166
1.  VW’s False and Misleading AdvertisSements..........ccccovveeveneieenesieesnene. 167
2. Audi’s False and Misleading AdvertiSements ..........cccovceveeneerenienieennenne 177
3. Porsche’s False and Misleading AdvertiSements...........ccoccevvvereeieniiennnn 180
4.  Volkswagen’s Nationwide Advertising Campaign Was Highly
Effective, and Volkswagen Profited Handsomely from Selling the
Class VENICIES........oouieie e 182
F.  Defendants’ Dirty Diesel Scheme Starts to Unravel...........ccccoooiiiiiniiinnnnns 183
G. Once Caught, Volkswagen Admits its Fraud—in Part............ccccoeeeviveieeineenen. 185
H. Volkswagen’s Failed Attempts at Remedial ACtiON...........cccooviiiiiiiiiiiieicns 196
I.  Volkswagen Caused Billions of Dollars in Harm to U.S. Consumers................ 197
J.  Defendants’ lllegal Scheme Caused Health Risks and Quantifiable Harm
10 the ENVIFONMENT......iiiiiieiecie et 201
TOLLING OF THE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS ...t 205
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS .. .ottt 206
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF .....oiiiiieieee sttt 216
FEDERAL CLAIMS ...ttt sttt st ene et s 216
FEDERAL COUNT I: Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)-(d) The Racketeer
Influenced And Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”) .....ccoocvieiiieiiniiiieieene 216
A. Description of the Defeat Device RICO ENterprise........cccoocevvereeneeieesieenennnns 217
1. The Volkswagen Entity Defendants ...........ccooeveiiniinneninnieccee e 218
2. The Volkswagen Entity Defendants’ Directors, Officers, and
ENGINEEIS ..ottt nbe et nreas 220
a. Martin WINTErKOIN .......ovi i 220
1315181.2 - iii - AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 5 of 742

b, MatthiaS MUIEr .........oooiiie e 221
C. MIChaEl HOIMN ... s 222
d. RUPEIT STAUIEr ... s 222
€. SCOE OGN .o s 223
f. Detlev VON PIAeN .......ooviiiiiicce e 223
g.  Ulrich Hackenberg.........cocooioiieiiie e 224
N, FranK TUCKH. ..o 224
I. WOITGaNG HAtZ........ooiiiiii e 225
3. The Bosch Defendants............ccccveviiiiieiiiiieccic e 225
B. The Defeat Device RICO Enterprise Sought to Increase Defendants’
Profits and REVENUES.........coiiiiiiciie ittt 227
C.  Mail and WIre Fraud .........ccooiiiiieiiicic st 230
FEDERAL COUNT II: Violations of 15 U.S.C. 88 2301, et seq., The
Magnuson-Moss Warranty ACt (“MMWA”) ..o 238
COMMON LAW CLAIMS ..ottt st be st ne e neeneenens 241
COMMON LAW COUNT &5 FRAUD ..ottt e s 241
COMMON LAW COUNT II: BREACH OF CONTRACT ....veeiviiierieeiesiee e 244
COMMON LAW COUNT HI: UNJUST ENRICHMENT ....coooiiiiiieice e 245
STATE LAW CLAIMS ...ttt sttt et te et be e neenre s 246
ALABADMA e et te e re e reaaeenreens 246
ALABAMA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF ALABAMA DECEPTIVE
TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Ala. Code 8 8-19-1, et S€Q.) .ceovvrvververrernnnnn 246
ALABAMA COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Ala.
Code 88 7-2-313 and 7-2A-210).....ccuiiieiiiie e 250
ALABAMA COUNT Ill: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Ala. Code 8§ 7-2-314 and 7-2A-212) ............... 254
ALASKA e et e e te e re et areenreens 255

ALASKA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE ALASKA UNFAIR
TRADE PRACTICES AND CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT

(Alaska Stat. 8 45.50.471, L SEA.) .eeverveerieeierieeniieeesiee e 255
ALASKA COUNT II: BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Alaska Stat. 88 45.02.314 and 45.12.212) ........ 259
ALASKA COUNT Ill: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Alaska
Stat. 88 45.02.313 and 45.12.210) ...ceevueiieiiicieieieieie e 260
ARIZONA e 264
ARIZONA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER FRAUD
ACT (Ariz. Rev. Stat. 8 44-1521, €1 SEU.) «vereervererriierieseenieeieseesieseeseeas 264
ARIZONA COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Ariz.
Rev. Stat. 8§ 47-2313 and 47-2A210) .....ccceveiiieieieeeeeeiee e 268
ARIZONA COUNT I1l: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Ariz. Rev. Stat. 88 47-2314 and 47-2A212) ..... 271
1315181.2 -V - AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 6 of 742

1315181.2

ARKANSAS L. 273
ARKANSAS COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE DECEPTIVE TRADE
PRACTICE ACT (Ark. Code Ann. 8 4-88-101, €t S€Q.) ...vevvervrrrerrieeeenne 273
ARKANSAS COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Ark. Code 88 4-2-314 and 4-2A-212)............... 277
ARKANSAS COUNT Ill: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Ark.
Code Ann. 88 4-2-313 and 4-2A-210) ....ccceeviiieiieiesieneeee e 278
CALIFORNIA .ottt et e e et e e st e e st e e e snb e e e ssaeeennnee s 282
CALIFORNIA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER
LEGAL REMEDIES ACT (Cal. Civ. Code 8 1750, et S€Q.)....cccvervrevrnenn 282

CALIFORNIA COUNT II: VIOLATIONS OF THE CALIFORNIA
UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200,
L= o 1 RSOSSN 286

CALIFORNIA COUNT IHI: VIOLATIONS OF CALIFORNIA FALSE
ADVERTISING LAW (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17500, et seq.) ......... 288

CALIFORNIA COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(Cal. Com. Code 88 2313 and 10210) ......ccuevurreereieiinieieieriese e sie e 289
CALIFORNIA COUNT V: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Cal. Com. Code 88 2314 and 10212)................ 293

CALIFORNIA COUNT VI: VIOLATIONS OF SONG-BEVERLY
CONSUMER WARRANTY ACT FOR BREACH OF EXPRESS
WARRANTIES (Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1791.2 & 1793.2(d)) .......ovvveeernreene. 294

CALIFORNIA COUNT VII: VIOLATIONS OF SONG-BEVERLY
CONSUMER WARRANTY ACT FOR BREACH OF IMPLIED
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY (Cal. Civ. Code

88 1791.1aN0 1792) ..o e 297
CALIFORNIA COUNT VIII: BREACH OF EXPRESS CALIFORNIA
EMISSIONS WARRANTIES (Cal. Civ. Code 88 1793.2, et seq.) .......... 298
CALIFORNIA COUNT IX: FAILURE TO RECALL/RETROFIT ................. 300
COLORADO ...ttt ettt ettt st et et e e be b e be e teeneesraereanes 301

COLORADO COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE COLORADO
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Col. Rev. Stat. 8 6-1-101, et
=10 ) OSSR 301

COLORADO COUNT II: BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (Col. Rev. Stat. 8§ 4-2-313 and 4-2.5-

202 ettt b e e et eas 305
COLORADO COUNT HlI: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(Colo. Rev. Stat. 88 4-2-313 and 4-2.5-210) ....cccevvirieiirniee e 306

CONNECTICUT ottt e et e e sabe e e snbe e e nnneas 310

CONNECTICUT COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF CONNECTICUT
UNLAWFUL TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-

LI0A, BESBUL) cveeveeniiaieeitie et st ettt ettt ettt ettt ne e nre e nnes 310
CONNECTICUT COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(Conn. Gen. Stat. ANN. 8 42A-2-313)...ccoiiiiiieiieie e 314

-V - AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 7 of 742

1315181.2

CONNECTICUT COUNT I1I: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY

OF MERCHANTABILITY (Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 42A-2-314) .......... 317
DELAWARE ...ttt skt e et e e e st e e e e brree e 318
DELAWARE COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE DELAWARE
CONSUMER FRAUD ACT (6 Del. Code 8 2513, et Seq.)....ccccvevvverrvranne. 318
DELAWARE COUNT II: BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (6 Del. Code 8§ 2-314 and 2A-212)............. 322
DELAWARE COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (6
Del. Code 88 2-313 and 2A-210)......cccueiererierieie e sie e 323
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA ...ttt 327

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE
CONSUMER PROTECTION PROCEDURES ACT (D.C. Code
§ 28-3901, B SEUL) veeveireereerieieie e cte ettt ettt 327

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COUNT Il: BREACH OF IMPLIED
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY (D.C. Code 8§ 28:2-314

AN 28:2A212) oo s e eee s ee st eese e eees e eese s eee s eeeeees 331
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COUNT IlI: BREACH OF EXPRESS

WARRANTY (D.C. Code §§ 28:2-313 and 28:2A-210) ........oevvvererrreenn. 332

FLORIDA w...coooveeeeeeeeeeeseeeeseeeeeeeseseeesses e s eeeses e e s e s ss s ese s ee s eese s eese e eessse e 336

FLORIDA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF FLORIDA’S UNFAIR &
DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Fla. Stat. § 501.201, et

=10 ) TSRS 336
FLORIDA COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (F.S.A.

88 672.313 aNd 680.21) ...c.veeviiiiiieie e 339
FLORIDA COUNT lIl: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF

MERCHANTABILITY (F.S.A. 88 672.314 and 680.212) ............cccueue.n. 343

GEORGIA ..ottt et e e te et et e e teene e reereanes 344

GEORGIA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF GEORGIA’S FAIR

BUSINESS PRACTICES ACT (Ga. Code Ann. 8 10-1-390, et seq.) ...... 344

GEORGIA COUNT II: VIOLATIONS OF GEORGIA’S UNIFORM
DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Ga. Code Ann. § 10-1-

=] =T o ) USRS PR 348
GEORGIA COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Ga.
Code. Ann. 88 11-2-313 and 11-2A-210) .....covcerieiieriieie e 351

GEORGIA COUNT IV: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Ga. Code. Ann. 8§ 11-2-314 and 11-2A-

77 DSOS 355

HAWAI L. oo oveoeeeeeeeeeee e esese e eses e es e es et sse e s e e sesssnen e eeesenees 356
HAWAII COUNT I: UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE ACTS IN

VIOLATION OF HAWAII LAW (Haw. Rev. Stat. § 480, et seq.) .......... 356

HAWAII COUNT II: BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Haw. Rev. Stat. 8§ 490:2-314 and 490:2A-

77 DO 360
HAWAII COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Haw.

Rev. Stat. §8§ 490:2-313 and 490:2A-210) .......vvvveeerereerereeeeeseesereesesseeeeee 361

_ Vi _ AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 8 of 742

1315181.2

IDAHO e a e res 365
IDAHO COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE IDAHO CONSUMER
PROTECTION ACT (ldaho Code § 48-601, €t SEQ.) ....c.cvrvrvrrrreereniennen. 365
IDAHO COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (ldaho
Code 88 28-2-313 and 28-12-210)......cccecerieiaeeieiesiesie e eenee e 369
IDAHO COUNT IlI: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (ldaho Code 8§ 28-2-314 and 28-12-212).......... 373
ILLINOIS ..ot e e e e e srb e e e et e e e nnaeenees 374

ILLINOIS COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF ILLINOIS CONSUMER
FRAUD AND DECEPTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES ACT (815

ILCS 505/1, et seq. and 720 ILCS 295/18).......ccccceerieieiieiieeieseenieeee s 374
ILLINOIS COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (810 Il
Comp. Stat. 88 5/2-313 and 5/2A-210)......cccceiieiiiiiiiee e 378

ILLINOIS COUNT Ill: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (810 Ill. Comp. Stat. 8§ 5/2-314 and 5/2A-

77 DO RS 382
INDIANA oo eeeeese e seese e sssess e e sees e sesseses e s e s s eessees s essss e eseeees 383
INDIANA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE INDIANA DECEPTIVE
CONSUMER SALES ACT (Ind. Code § 24-5-0.5-3)........ovvveccreerrrrreeeenn 383
INDIANA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Ind. Code §§ 26-1-2-314 and 26-1-2.1-212)..... 387
INDIANA COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Ind.
Code §8 26-1-2-313 and 26-1-2.1-210) ......vvvverresrereeeereesseesreeesseeseeeneen 388
TOWVA oo eeeeeeee e eeeess e es e e e s e e e e e s e 392

IOWA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE PRIVATE RIGHT OF
ACTION FOR CONSUMER FRAUDS ACT (lowa Code § 714h.1,

L= 1) TSR P PRI 392
IOWA COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (lowa Code
88 554.2313 and 554.13210) ...eeveieiieiieiieeieeeeeeree e 396
IOWA COUNT IIl: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (lowa Code 8§ 554.2314 and 554.13212).......... 400
KAINSAS ettt st b bRttt bbb ne ettt 401
KANSAS COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE KANSAS CONSUMER
PROTECTION ACT (Kan. Stat. Ann. 8 50-623, €t S€Q.).....ccervrrvrreereenne 401
KANSAS COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Kan. Stat. 8§ 84-2-314 and 84-2A-212) ........... 405
KANSAS COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Kan.
Stat. 88 84-2-314 and 84-2A-210) ......cceieriiiiiise st 406
KENTUGCKY Lottt sttt e beese e s e e e e bententeane e 410

KENTUCKY COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE KENTUCKY
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Ky. Rev. Stat. § 367.110, et

=10 ) PR U PR RTROPRTRN 410
KENTUCKY COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Ky.

Rev. Stat. 88§ 335.2-313 and 355.2A-210) .....ceeverieieiieiie e 414

-Vii - AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 9 of 742

KENTUCKY COUNT I1I: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Ky. Rev. Stat. §§ 335.2-314 and 355.2A-
77 DO 418

LOUISTANA bbb 419

LOUISIANA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE LOUISIANA
UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES AND CONSUMER PROTECTION
LAW (La. Rev. Stat. 8§ 51:1401, €t SEQ.) weoverveereereerieniesieerieseesieenie e seeas 419

LOUISIANA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY/ WARRANTY AGAINST REDHIBITORY

DEFECTS (La. Civ. Code Art. 2520, 2524)......ccccciiiiieiiiieieeniese e 423

N USSR 424
MAINE COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF MAINE UNFAIR TRADE

PRACTICES ACT (Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. Tit. 5 § 205-a, et seq.) .............. 424

MAINE COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Me. Rev. Stat. Tit. 11 §8 2-314 and 2-

() OO 428
MAINE COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Me. Rev.
Stat. Tit. 11 88 2-313 and 2-1210) crvvvvvvvoreeeeeeeerreeseseeeesseessesseeseeesessseeneen 429
IMARY LAND ... oovvecooeeeeeeeesesseseesesseesessssesseesessssesseesessssesseasessssesseesesssseseessesesees 432

MARYLAND COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE MARYLAND
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Md. Code Com. Law § 13-101,

LT o 1 TSRS 432
MARYLAND COUNT II: MARYLAND LEMON LAW (Md. Code.
Com. Law 8 14-1501, BT SEU.) - eveererrerriierierieenieaiesiee e e 436

MARYLAND COUNT Ill: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Md. Code Com. Law 88 2-314 and 2A-

yX ) N OO 437
MARYLAND COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Md.

Code Com. Law 88 2-313 and 2a-210)........ccccervrvrieinieierieniene e siesiaanens 438

MASSACHUSETTS ..ot a e rre e 442

MASSACHUSETTS COUNT I: DECEPTIVE ACTS OR PRACTICES
PROHIBITED BY MASSACHUSETTS LAW (Mass. Gen. Laws

Ch. 933, 8 1, BLSEUL) weeveereeeiieiieiee ettt e e 442
MASSACHUSETTS COUNT II: MASSACHUSETTS LEMON LAW
(Mass. Gen. Laws Ch. 90, 8 7NL/2(1))..ccveeerreeiiiie e 446

MASSACHUSETTS COUNT Ill: BREACH OF IMPLIED
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 106

88 2-314 AN 2A-212) ...c..eieceee et s 447
MASSACHUSETTS COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS

WARRANTY (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 106 8§ 2-313 and 2A-210)............... 448

MICHIGAN .. a e s e e e et e e e ssa e e e snreeeseaeenes 452

MICHIGAN COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE MICHIGAN
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Mich. Comp. Laws § 445.903,
L= o 1 TSR PRI 452

AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

13151812 - Vil - COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:

1315181.2

15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 10 of 742

MICHIGAN COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Mich.
Comp. Laws 88 440.2313 and 440.2860) .........cccererreeneriieieeniesee e 456

MICHIGAN COUNT Ill: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Mich. Comp. Laws 88§ 440.2314 and
A40.2860) ...t 460

MINNESOTA s 461

MINNESOTA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF MINNESOTA
PREVENTION OF CONSUMER FRAUD ACT (Minn. Stat.
§ 325F.68, BL SEUL) . cvviveierieriiieiee ettt 461

MINNESOTA COUNT II: VIOLATIONS OF MINNESOTA UNIFORM
DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Minn. Stat. § 325d.43-
=] B =To N USSR PPRTRN 465

MINNESOTA COUNT III: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Minn. Stat. 88§ 336.2-314 and 336.2A-212) ...... 469

MINNESOTA COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(Minn. Stat. 88 336.2-313 and 336.2A-210)......ccccceiveriniriieieeee e 470

IMISSISSIPPI ..ottt bbb esre e e s e nes 474
MISSISSIPPI COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF MISSISSIPPI CONSUMER

PROTECTION ACT (Miss. Code. Ann. § 75-24-1, et S€Q.) c.eovvevervveeenne 474

MISSISSIPPI COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Miss. Code 8§ 75-2-314 and 75-2A-212) ......... 477

MISSISSIPPI COUNT I1l: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(Miss. Code 88 75-2-313 and 75-2A-210)......ccevereiiiiieiineseeeeeeeen, 479

MISSOURI ... 482

MISSOURI COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF MISSOURI
MERCHANDISING PRACTICES ACT (Mo. Rev. Stat. § 407.010,
LT 1) U RTRUP PRI 482

MISSOURI COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Mo. Stat. §§ 400.2-314 and 400.2A-212) ......... 487

MISSOURI COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Mo.
Stat. 88§ 400.2-313 and 400.2A-210).......cceriririeieieieniesie e 488

MONTANA bbb e e e e r e b 491

MONTANA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF MONTANA UNFAIR
TRADE PRACTICES AND CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT OF
1973 (Mont. Code Ann. 8 30-14-101, €t SEQ.) cvevveevrreerierirsieerieeee e 491

MONTANA COUNT IIl: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Mont. Code 8§ 30-2-314 and 30-2A-212) ........ 495

MONTANA COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(Mont. Code 88 30-2-313 and 30-2A-210).....ccceverrriiieeeierienie e e siennens 496

NEBRASKA L 500

NEBRASKA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE NEBRASKA
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1601, et
=10 1) R STURPPR 500

AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

- IX- COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:

1315181.2

15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 11 of 742

NEBRASKA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Neb. Rev. St. U.C.C. §8 2-314 and 2A-

202 ettt et re e et 504
NEBRASKA COUNT Ill: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(Neb.Rev.St. U.C.C. 88 2-313 and 2A-210) ....ccccveeriierienienieenieeee e 505
NEVADA . oottt bttt b e b e Rttt et bbb b e ne ettt 509
NEVADA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE NEVADA DECEPTIVE
TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903, et seq.) ........... 509
NEVADA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (N.R.S. §8 104.2314 and 104A.2212)................. 513
NEVADA COUNT IlI: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (N.R.S.
88 104.2313 and 104A.2210) .ocveeeiieiieeiieieeeeierie e 514
NEW HAMPSHIRE ..ottt 518
NEW HAMPSHIRE COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF N.H. CONSUMER
PROTECTION ACT (N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 358-a:1, et seq.) ......ccccue.... 518

NEW HAMPSHIRE COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (N.H. Rev. Stat. 88 382-A:2-314 and
B82-AI2A2L2) . 522

NEW HAMPSHIRE COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS
WARRANTY (N.H. Rev. Stat. 88 382-A:2-313 and 382-A:2A-210) ...... 523

NEW JERSEY .ttt e s e e e nr e e e nne e 527
NEW JERSEY COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE NEW JERSEY
CONSUMER FRAUD ACT (N.J. Stat. Ann. 88 56:8-1, et seq.)............. 527
NEW JERSEY COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (N.J.S. 12A:2-314 and 2A-212) ......cccccovevveannnn, 531
NEW JERSEY COUNT Ill: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(N.J.S. 12A:2-313 and 2A-210) ...c.veieiiieeiieieeeeierie e 532
NEW MEXICO ...ttt st e e ann e e s nneeanneee e 536

NEW MEXICO COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE NEW MEXICO
UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT (N.M. Stat. Ann. 88 57-12-1,

L= o 1 TSR P PRI 536
NEW MEXICO COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (N.M. Stat. 8§ 55-2-314 and 55-2A-212)........... 540
NEW MEXICO COUNT IlI: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(N.M. Stat. 88 55-2-313 and 55-2A-210) .....coccvereeriereiriene e, 541
NEW YORK ..ottt sttt ettt sttt teane s ene e s 545
NEW YORK COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK GENERAL
BUSINESS LAW 8§ 349 (N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law 8§ 349) .......cccoocvvveiiiinnnns 545
NEW YORK COUNT II: VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK GENERAL
BUSINESS LAW 8§ 350 (N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law 8 350) ........cccccerverierennnnns 549
NEW YORK COUNT IlI: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (N.Y. U.C.C. Law 8§ 2-314 and 2A-212)........... 551
NEW YORK COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (N.Y.
U.C.C. Law 88 2-313 and 2A-210) ...ceeiieiiiieiieie e 552
- X - AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:

1315181.2

15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 12 of 742

NORTH CAROLINA ... 555

NORTH CAROLINA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE NORTH
CAROLINA UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES
ACT (N.C. Gen. Stat. 88 75-1.1, € SEQ.) eevverveeierirriieieesieeriesie e seeaeeas 555

NORTH CAROLINA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY (N.C.G.S.A. 8§ 25-2-314

NG 252A-212) 1...oooeoevveeee e eeeeeeeeeeeeeese s se e seeses e eeseesse e eeeeesreeeee 560

NORTH CAROLINA COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS
WARRANTY (N.C.G.S.A. §§ 25-2-313 and 252A-210) ........ccovvvvvecrreen 561
NORTH DAKOTA coovccooeeeeveeeeseeeeseeseesssesseessessssssssessessessssessessessssessesssssssesseessssees 564

NORTH DAKOTA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE NORTH
DAKOTA CONSUMER FRAUD ACT (N.D. Cent. Code § 51-15-
02)564

NORTH DAKOTA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (N.D. Cent. Code 8§ 41-02-31 and 41-

02,1520 1ttt ettt e 569
NORTH DAKOTA COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(N.D. Cent. Code 88 41-02-30 and 41-02.1-19) ...c.cccvvvvenieinieieierieen, 570
10 ] | L RSP RPRTPRTIS 573
OHIO COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE OHIO CONSUMER SALES
PRACTICES ACT (Ohio Rev. Code 88 1345.01, €t SEQ.) ecvvevvvervrrevereenne 573
OHIO COUNT II: VIOLATIONS OF THE OHIO DECEPTIVE TRADE
PRACTICES ACT (Ohio Rev. Code 8 4165.01, et Seq.) ...cccvervvrvrreereennn 578

OHIO COUNT I1I: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Ohio Rev. Code Ann. 88 1302.27 and

1310.09) oottt 582

OHIO COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Ohio Reuv.
Code § 1302.26, et seq.) (U.C.C. 8§ 2-313)) ..ceeivrierrieriiiienieriesiesieseeeeeenens 583
OKLAHOMA et e e st e e st e e e ssb e e e steeeaseeeas 587

OKLAHOMA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF OKLAHOMA
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Okla. Stat. Tit. 15 8 751, et
=10 ) TSR P PRI 587

OKLAHOMA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Okla. Stat. Tit. 12A 8§ 2-314 and 2A-212) ...... 590

OKLAHOMA COUNT III: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(Okla. Stat. Tit. 12A 88 2-313 and 2A-210) ....cevvieeiieieniesieee e 592
OREGON ...ttt e et e e e bt e e st e e et e e e anb e e e ntaeearree s 595
OREGON COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE OREGON UNLAWFUL
TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Or. Rev. Stat. 88 646.605, et seq.).............. 595
OREGON COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Or. Rev. Stat. § 72.3140 and 72A.2120)........... 599
OREGON COUNT I1Il: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Or. Rev.
Stat. 88 72.3130 and 72A.2100) ......ccerueriiiiieieieie e 600
PENNSYLVANIA e e e e e eeennaee e 604

AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

- Xi- COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




-

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 13 of 742

PENNSYLVANIA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE
PENNSYLVANIA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES AND
CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW (73 P.S. § 201-1, et Seq.)....vvecrnnee.. 604

PENNSYLVANIA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (13 Pa. Cons. Stat. §8 2314 and 2A212) ...... 607

PENNSYLVANIA COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(13 Pa. Cons. Stat. 88 2313 and 2A210).......ccceeiereriieieeie e e 609

RHODE ISLAND ..ot 612

© 00 ~N oo o b~ o w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

RHODE ISLAND COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE RHODE ISLAND
DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT (R.l. Gen. Laws § 6-13.1,

1= o ) SRR UR

RHODE ISLAND COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (6A R.I. Gen. Laws 8§ 6A-2-314 and

BA2.1-212) o vvveeoeeeeseeeeeeeseseeeeseeeeessees s eees s eeeess e sesee e eerene

RHODE ISLAND COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(6A R.I. Gen. Laws 88 6A-2-313 and 6A-2.1-210)......ccccccervervenrainnnn.
SOUTH CAROLINA . ..ttt e et e e anneas

SOUTH CAROLINA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE SOUTH
CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT (S.C. Code Ann.

§ 39-5-10, BESEUL) vervevrveiiriereiieiere sttt

SOUTH CAROLINA COUNT II: VIOLATIONS OF THE SOUTH
CAROLINA REGULATION OF MANUFACTURERS,
DISTRIBUTORS, AND DEALERS ACT (S.C. Code Ann. § 56-15-

10, B SO wenveereestie it ee ettt sttt b et b e

SOUTH CAROLINA COUNT Ill: BREACH OF IMPLIED
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY (S.C. Code 8§ 36-2-314

AN 36-2A-212) ..ot

SOUTH CAROLINA COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS

WARRANTY (S.C. Code 8§ 36-2-313 and 36-2A-210) .......c.cccvvvenennen.
SOUTH DAKOTA e

SOUTH DAKOTA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE SOUTH
DAKOTA DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES AND CONSUMER

PROTECTION LAW (S.D. Codified Laws § 37-24-6) .........cc.cecevvrunnn.

SOUTH DAKOTA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (S.D. Codified Laws 88 57A-2-314 and

BTA2A212) o ooveooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeee e s s eee e e

SOUTH DAKOTA COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(S.D. Codified Laws 88 57A-2-313 and 57A-2A-210) ....cccccvevvrveiennnnne
TENNESSEE ...

TENNESSEE COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF TENNESSEE CONSUMER
PROTECTION ACT OF 1977 (Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-18-101, et

.. 612

. 621

.. 625

=10 ) SRR U SRR OPRTRN 640
TENNESSEE COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Tenn. Code 88 47-2-314 and 47-2A-212)....... 643

TENNESSEE COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(Tenn. Code 88 47-2-313 and 47-2A-210) .....coevereieieieieeeeeeieee s

1315181.2 - Xii -

AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:

1315181.2

15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 14 of 742

TEXAS COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE DECEPTIVE TRADE
PRACTICES ACT - CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Tex. Bus.
& Com. Code 88 17.41, €L SEU.) cververrerierieriieiiaieieie et 648

TEXAS COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Tex. Bus. & Com. Code 8§ 2.314 and

2A.202) et 652
TEXAS COUNT I1I: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Tex. Bus.
& Com. Code 88 2.313 and 2A.210) ..c..evverieiieiiiieieiesiesie et 654
O 1N o OO RP T PPPRPRPPPPRN 657
UTAH COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF UTAH CONSUMER SALES
PRACTICES ACT (Utah Code Ann. § 13-11-1, et S€Q.) .cveecverveeerrieerienne 657

UTAH COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Utah Code 88 70A-2-314 and 70A-2A-

202) ettt ettt e e bt nr e re e e 661
UTAH COUNT IlI: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Utah Code
88 70A-2-313 and 70A-2A-210) ..ooeeiieieeieeieee e s 662
VERIMONT ..ottt sttt b et et be e beenbeaneeae e 666
VERMONT COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF VERMONT CONSUMER
PROTECTION ACT (Vt. Stat. Ann. Tit. 9, 8 2451 et S€Q.) ..vevvevvvevereenne 666
VERMONT COUNT II: VERMONT LEMON LAW (Vt. Stat. Tit. 9,
§ 4170, €1 AL) cviieii e 670
VERMONT COUNT I1I: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Vt. Stat. Tit. 9A, 88 2-314 and 2A-212) ........... 671
VERMONT COUNT IV: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Vt.
Stat. Tit. 9A, 88 2-313 aNd 2A-210) ...oceeiiiieiieieeie e 672
VIRGINIA ettt ettt b ettt beenbeeneesneenae e 676

VIRGINIA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE VIRGINIA
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Va. Code Ann. 8§ 59.1-196, et

=10 ) ST RTPR TR PPRRN 676
VIRGINIA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Va. Code 8§ 8.2-314 and 8.2A-212)................. 679
VIRGINIA COUNT IlI: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Va.
Code 88 8.2-313 and 8.2A-210) .....eeverieeiieie et 681
WASHINGTON....cotiieie ettt sttt et re et e e nteaneenae e 684

WASHINGTON COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE WASHINGTON
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Wash. Rev. Code Ann.
88 19.86.010, BE SBOL) cvevvveriieriiiiereiieree ettt 684

WASHINGTON COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Wash. Rev. Code §8 62A.2-314 and

B2A.2A212) e et 688
WASHINGTON COUNT Ill: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

(Wash. Rev. Code 88 62A.2-313 and 62A.2A-210).......ccccerereivrerrinnnnns 689
WASHINGTON COUNT IV: WASHINGTON LEMON LAW (Wash.

Rev. Code § 19.118.005, €t al.) ...ccevveiiiiiiieieieiee e, 693

- Xiii - AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:

15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 15 of 742

WEST VIRGINIA ..o e 694

WEST VIRGINIA COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE CONSUMER
CREDIT AND PROTECTION ACT (W. Va. Code 8 46A-1-101, et
=10 1) OSSR OPRTRN 694

WEST VIRGINIA COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY
OF MERCHANTABILITY (W. Va. Code 88 46-2-314 and 46-2A-

7 DO 698
WEST VIRGINIA COUNT IIl: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY
(W. Va. Code 88 46-2-313 and 46-2A-210) .........rverveerreeeerrrrerisseesneseene 699

WEST VIRGINIA COUNT IV: BREACH OF NEW MOTOR VEHICLE
WARRANTY (WEST VIRGINIA “LEMON LAW?”) (W. Va. Code

88 ABA-BA-1, L SEU.) wovvvereieriiiiie st 703
WISCONSIN Lo e e e e st e e e e ae e e snaeeennes 706
WISCONSIN COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE WISCONSIN
DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT (Wis. Stat. § 100.18) ............. 706
WISCONSIN COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Wis.
Stat. 88 402.313 aNd 411.210) ...eeeiviiieiieeieeee e 710
WISCONSIN COUNT I1l: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Wis. Stat. 8§ 402.314 and 411.212)................... 713
WY OMING ... e e e e e e e e bt e e e s s ba e e e e s eateeeeeabreeeeans 714

WYOMING COUNT I: VIOLATIONS OF THE WYOMING
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (Wyo. Stat. 8§88 40-12-101, et
=10 ) OSSR URPPR 714

WYOMING COUNT II: BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY (Wyo. Stat. 8§ 34.1-2-314 and 34.1-2.A-

77 ) DO 719

WYOMING COUNT II: BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY (Wyo.
TR TR 2 N ) R 720
PRAYER FOR RELIEF 1...ovvocooeeeeeeveoeeseeesseseeessssssesseesessssessessesssssssesssesssessessesssseseeenees 723
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL ...ooeevvveeoreeeeeeeeeseessesssesseessesssessesssesssessesssssssessessssssseesoene 725
1315181.2 _ XiV _ AMENDED CONSOLIDATED CONSUMER CLASS

COMPLAINT MDL 2672 CRB (JSC)




© 00 ~N oo o B~ O w N

NN N N NN N DN PR R R R R Rl R R, R, e
Lo ~N o o B~ W DN PP O © 00 N O ok O wo N+ o

Case 3:15-md-02672-CRB Document 1804 Filed 09/02/16 Page 16 of 742

Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,
against (1) the Defendants collectively known as “Volkswagen”: Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft
(“VW AG”), Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (“VW America”) (together, “VW?”), Audi
Aktiengesellschaft (“Audi AG”), Audi of America, LLC (“Audi America”) (together, “Audi”),
Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche Aktiengesellschaft (“Porsche AG”), Porsche Cars North America, Inc.
(“Porsche America”) (together, “Porsche”), Martin Winterkorn (“Winterkorn”), Matthias Muller
(“Mdiller), Michael Horn (*Horn”), and Rupert Stadler (“Stadler”); and (2) the Defendants
collectively known as “Bosch”: Robert Bosch GmbH (“Bosch GmbH”), Robert Bosch, LLC
(“Bosch LLC™), and Volkmar Denner (“Denner”) (together, “Bosch™).! Plaintiffs allege the
following based upon information and belief, the investigation of counsel, and personal

knowledge as to the factual allegations pertaining to themselves.

INTRODUCTION

1. This case arises out of one of the most brazen corporate crimes in history, a
cautionary tale about winning at any cost. VVolkswagen cheated its way to the top of the
automotive food chain and spared no victim along the way, targeting its customers, U.S. and
foreign regulators, and even the very air we breathe. The linchpin of Volkswagen’s fraudulent
scheme was the deliberate use of a “defeat device,” a secretly embedded software algorithm that,
as Volkswagen has since admitted, was designed and installed to cheat emission tests, thereby
fooling the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), among other regulators, into approving
for sale hundreds of thousands of non-compliant cars (the “Class Vehicles,” defined below). For
years, Volkswagen got away with it, and the Class Vehicles were sold at record numbers into our
stream of commerce. Once on the roads, these cars spewed millions of tons of harmful nitrogen
oxide (*NOx”) pollutants into our air at a rate of up to 40 times the legal limit. All the while,

Volkswagen pitched itself to the American public as the world’s foremost innovator of “clean”

VW AG, Audi AG, and Porsche AG are sometimes collectively referred to as the “German
Volkswagen Defendants,” and VW America, Audi America, and Porsche America are
collectively referred to as the “American Volkswagen Defendants.” Winterkorn, Horn, Miiller,
and Stadler are collectively referred to as the “Volkswagen Individual Defendants,” and
inclusively with Denner as the “Individual Defendants.”
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diesel technology, duping hundreds of thousands of environmentally-conscious consumers who
were willing to pay a premium for “clean” diesel vehicles.

2. Fraud fueled Volkswagen’s success, and its only real “clean” diesel innovation
was how it played dirty. Its ingeniously-designed defeat devices, software installed on engine
management systems supplied by defendant Bosch, detected when its dirty diesel engines were
being tested in a laboratory or smog station and triggered performance-sapping controls to
simulate compliance with emission laws. But when the test ended, and the driver returned to the
road under normal operation and use, the performance—and the illegal belch of pollution—
returned. Everything about VVolkswagen’s fr